IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STEVEN W. COLLINS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2007-CA-00717

MELANNIE BLAYLOCK COLLINS

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Steven W. Collins, Appellant
- 2. Melannie Blaylock Collins, Appellee
- 3. Steven Wayne Collins, Jr., minor child of the parties
- 4. Malenda H. Meacham, Attorney for Appellant
- 5. L. Anne Jackson, Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 13
ARGUMENT
I. Standard of Review14
II. The Chancellor Applied the Albright Factors Improperly in Denying Mr. Collins' Request for Physical Custody At Least During the School Year and Withdrawing S.C. from a School and Community Where He Was Doing Well Three Quarters of the Way Through the School Year
III. The Chancellor's Award Did Not Satisfy the Requirements of Joint Physical Custody
IV. The Chancellor Committed Reversible Error in Not Considering and Addressing the Guardian Ad Litem's Concerns in His Opinion

ŧ

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Ballard v. Ballard, 434 So. 2d 1357 (Miss. 1983)
Brekeen v. Brekeen, 880 So. 2d 280 (Miss. 2004) 15-16
<i>Copeland v. Copeland</i> , 904 So. 2d 1066 (Miss. 2004)
Crider v. Crider, 904 So. 2d 142 (Miss. 2005)
<i>C.W.L. v. R.A.</i> , 919 So. 2d 267 (Miss. App. 2005) 27
Divers v. Divers, 856 So. 2d 370 (Miss 2003) 15, 16
<i>Floyd v. Floyd</i> , 949 So. 2d 26 (Miss. 2007) 29-30
<i>Giannaris v. Giannaris</i> , 960 So. 2d 462 (Miss. 2007)
Hollon v. Hollon, 784 So. 2d 943 (Miss. 2001) 15-16, 26
Jerome v. Stroud, 689 So. 2d 755 (Miss. 1997)15
Lee v. Lee, 798 So. 2d 1284 (Miss. 2001)
Rush v. Rush, 932 So. 2d 794 (Miss. 2006) 28-29
Sobieske v. Presler, 755 So. 2d 410 (Miss. 2000)
Watts v. Watts, 854 So. 2d 11 (Miss App 2002) 15, 16, 21, 26-27

Statutes

ł

!

t :

(

t t

l

Miss. Code § 93-5-24	29
----------------------	----

iii

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the Chancellor improperly considered and applied the Albright factors?

2. Whether the Chancellor's decision in regard to periods of custody satisfied the requirements for an award of joint physical custody?

3. Whether the Chancellor erred in failing to review the guardian ad litem's testimony and state his reasons for rejecting her concerns in his findings of fact?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Steve Collins sued his wife Melannie for divorce on fault and for temporary and permanent custody of their son S.C. on March 14, 2005 after his wife Melannie left the marital residence around the first of March 2005. R. 7-14¹ Melannie filed an answer and countercomplaint for divorce and custody of S.C. on June 6, 2005. R. 17-26. After exchange of financial information and the completion of discovery, trial was set for August 17, 2006 by agreement. R. 33 As a result of Melannie questioning S.C. at 5 a.m at his school in the presence of school officials about an incident in which Steve spanked his son, DHS opened an abuse investigation and a guardian ad litem was appointed and only the issue of temporary custody was heard on August 17, 2006. R. 36 and Exhibit 6. After commencement of the hearing and considerable testimony, the parties reached agreement on the temporary matters and an agreed temporary order was entered on August 17, 2006. R. 34-35 After the completion of the guardian ad litem's investigation, the case came to trial on January 11, 2007. R. 52 and T. 1 After hearing the evidence, the Chancellor took the matter under advisement. While the

ł

¹R. refers to the record of clerk's papers. T. refers to the main transcript of the January 11, 2007 hearing. Supp. T. refers to the supplemental transcript containing the Chancellor's oral opinion from the bench on March 1, 2007. The transcript of the August 17, 2006 hearing was introduced into evidence as Exhibit 6 and will be referred to as such in this brief. R.E. refers to Appellant's Record Excerpts.

Chancellor had the matter under advisement and before he issued his opinion, the parties withdrew their fault pleadings and agreed to proceed on the grounds of irreconcilable differences. R. 71-72 The Chancellor then issued his oral opinion analyzing the Albright factors and setting forth the reasoning for his decision on custody on March 1, 2007. Supp T. 1; R.E. 13 That oral opinion was subsequently incorporated into a final decree of divorce which decided the contested child custody and support issues filed on April 12, 2007. R. 77-84; R.E. 13-27 Steve Collins then timely filed his notice of appeal on April 27, 2007. R. 85

STATEMENT OF FACTS

S.C. was born to Steve and Melannie Collins in Greenwood in September of 1997, almost a year before they married in August of 1998. Melannie also had an older special needs daughter from a prior marriage. At the time of S.C.'s birth, Melannie was a nurse working for a dialysis center. After S.C.'s birth, the couple moved to Grenada and Melannie returned to nursing, but began working less popular shifts, starting with working weekend shifts three weekends a month. She also worked part-time at an ambulance service in Greenwood. Steve was a fireman, ambulance driver and later a paramedic. At times, he and Melannie would work together on part time assignments such as long distance patient transfers by ambulance. T. 230-233. In July of 2003, even though neither had family in Hernando, the couple moved to Hernando because it had a good school system and was closer to Steve's job in Southhaven and Melannie's job in Memphis. T. 232

ļ

Ę

(;

ŧ

(

ŧ

(

By this time, both Steve and Melannie had completed the training and certification to be paramedics. Because both Steve and Melannie had similar jobs with 24 hour shifts and neither had nearby family, they alternated their work schedules on both their full-time and part-time jobs so that one could care for the children while the other worked. While one may have worked

more than the other in one particular month, over the months they averaged about equal amounts of work time. Each cared for the children while the other was at work. T. 243-244; R.E. 91-92

In December of 2004 and January of 2005, although she was working both her full time job and part time jobs, Melannie found the time to engage in an affair which she acknowledged to the court in her testimony. T. 34-35, 237; R.E. 39-40, 90 When Steve found out about the affair, they had a big blowup. After a month of trying to make the marriage work, Melannie decided to leave in March of 2005. T. 37-38; R.E. 41-42

When Melannie left, she initially took S.C. and her daughter and most of the contents of the house with her. With her aunt's assistance, while Steve was at work, she brought a trailer to the 3300 square foot house and took most of the furniture and nearly all the kitchenware except for a couple of plates and glasses. She and her aunt even cleaned out all the food in the pantry. She admitted she took everything but 1 bed, a chair, the refrigerator, a washer and dryer and 2 television sets. Approximately a week later, she returned both S.C. and her daughter to the almost empty house where Steve was living and left them there for Steve to care for. She did not return the children's furniture or any dishes for them to eat from or return or replace any of the food she had taken from the pantry so they would have something to eat. T 39-42, 78-79; R.E. 43-46, 61-62.

Two weeks to a month later, she returned to the house again. This time, on the advice of her lawyer, she took her daughter with her to a house her mother had rented for her in Pope. She testified she did this because her lawyer told her it would look bad for her to leave her special needs daughter by a prior marriage with Steve. Although she took her daughter with her, she left S.C. behind for his father to care for him. T. 42; R.E. 46; Exhibit 6 at p. 25; R.E. 116

ŧ

t

(

Melannie put other matters ahead of her children when she returned them both to the

empty house for Steve to care for. Even after she came back for her daughter because her lawyer told her it would look bad if she didn't, for at least the next several months, she put other matters, such as straightening out her finances ahead of S.C.'s needs and caring for S.C.. T 41-45; R.E. 45-49

A calendar covering the time S.C. spent with Melannie in the first eighteen months of the separation was introduced at both the August 2006 and January 2007 hearings. The calendar was based on contemporaneous journals documenting the time Melannie spent with S.C. from the beginning of the separation in March of 2005 until July of 2006, just prior to the August 2006 hearing. This evidence showed Melannie only spent time with S.C. an average of 7.8 days a month between March of 2005 and November of 2005 when she testified she was working a ton of hours to get her personal finances in order and get back on her feet. In September of 2005, S.C. spent 1 night with her and on three other days she saw him for a short period according to the calendar. She said she cut back on all her extra part time jobs in December of 2005 and began working a lot less hours. However, the calendar shows in the months between December of 2005 and July of 2006, she spent even less time with S.C., averaging only 6.75 days a month. In December 2005, S.C. only stayed with her 8 nights. He spent only 4 nights with her in January of 2006. And in January, the calendar showed she only saw him one other time for a few minutes. In February 2006 S.C. stayed with her 4 nights and she saw him 4 other times. In March he stayed with her 2 nights and Melannie went to one soccer game. After November of 2005, when she was working fewer hours and seeing S.C. less than before, she was spending time with her boyfriend² several time times a week. Even in the summer months when S.C. was

²Melannie claimed he was not her boyfriend yet and would not be her boyfriend until the divorce and custody issues were settled, but she admitted she had had sex with him and that she spent a lot of

out of school and she was only working 8 to 10 days a month, she only saw S.C. about 8 days a

month. T 50-54; R.E. 51-55; Exhibits 3, 4 and Exhibit 6 at 8-12, 20, 60; R.E. 101-105, 113, 131

Melannie did not dispute the evidence summarized in the calendar even when the Chancellor pointed out to her how it would have to be considered in deciding what was in S.C.'s best interest in the following exchange:

THE COURT: You state to the Court ... that you wanted the child with you in Pope. Ma'am, the over night and the days on this calendar don't support that. THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, I understand that. THE COURT: Do you understand what this Court is struggling with? THE WITNESS: Yes, sir, I do. THE COURT: I understand he's the father of the child, and you're the mother of the child, I have to go on past history on what's been done. THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. THE WITNESS: Yes, sir. THE COURT: As a kind of picture of what's going to be done in the future.

Exhibit 6 at p. 52-53; R.E. 129-130; T. 50-54; R.E. 51-55

Although Melannie claimed she wanted S.C. to be with her, her testimony, like her actions, painted a picture of much stronger emotional ties between S.C. and his father than between S.C. and his mother. Melannie testified often when she had S.C., he would talk to his father on the phone and then tell her "mama, I want to go home." When he asked to go home to his father, she would take him home. She said she was not going to resist his wishes when he wanted to be with his father more than he wanted to be with her. She also said that often S.C. would go to say goodbye to his father and then come back and tell her he wanted to stay with his father, so she let him Exhibit 6 at p. 42-43.; R.E. 123-124; T 55-56; R.E. 56-57

During this same time period from March of 2005 through July of 2006, S.C. and his father spent a great deal of time together doing a variety of things. They played baseball and

time with him. [cite]

soccer, rode dirt bikes and went hunting. Steve enrolled S.C. in a number of extracurricular activities which he enjoyed and paid the expenses. Steve took S.C. to practices and made sure he got there on time even if Steve was working. Steve usually accompanied S.C. to all his practices and games at least 4 times a week over at least the two previous seasons. Steve was often present at practice and games even when he was on call and working. Exhibit 6 at pp 9-10. 12-14, 20; R.E. 102-103, 105-107, 113;T 82-84; R.E. 63-65

The coaches testified that Melannie, on the other hand, made little effort, even when she wasn't working, to be present at S.C.'s games. She rarely showed up games even though in most cases both of a player's parents attended most games. Other testimony indicated that she might have attended a few games, but she made no effort to go to his practices even when she was not working. Exhibit 6 at p. 38, 47; R.E. 121, 125; Exhibit 3; T 14-15, 24, 166-167, 171-172; R.E. 32-33, 36, 83-86 There was also evidence that Melannie did not attend any of S.C.'s parent teacher conferences and that her participation in S.C.'s school activities was so minimal that when she showed up to pick up S.C. one day, the school wanted approval from Steve to allow Melannie to take S.C. with her. Exhibit 6 at 21, 38, 69; R.E. 114, 121, 136; T 84; R.E. 65

Even when he was working and S.C. was being cared for by the sitter, Steve would call to talk to S.C. every night he was with the sitter. Steve's mother testified that any time S.C.'s father was around, Steve wanted to be with him. T. 16, 156; R.E. 34, 76

ł,

(

£

(:

(

((

ł

t t

(

Melannie also did not dispute the evidence that she failed to support S.C. in all the months she left him primarily in Steve's care. She testified even when she was working several jobs and making money from working a ton of hours and her rent was \$300 a month while the mortgage payments on the house where she left Steve and S.C. were \$1700 a month, she made no contribution to day care costs, school costs, back to school clothes or any other expenses of

S.C.'s care in Hernando. She only bought S.C. a few clothes to keep at her house in Pope. Instead of supporting S.C., she testified her priorities were paying off her credit cards and paying off her rental property, putting her personal financial goals ahead of providing support for S.C.. She testified that even when she got a large raise, she didn't contribute any support for S.C. while he was in his father's care. T 45-46, 88; R.E. 49-50, 69; Exhibit 6 at 14, 36, 49-50; R.E. 106, 120, 126-127

Although she was aware that on days when Steve was working his 24 hour shifts and S.C. was not in school, Steve was paying for a sitter to care for S.C., she did not offer to care for S.C. on her own days off to reduce those costs. The evidence also showed that in the nine months that S.C.'s baseball coach and his wife were caring for S.C. while Steve worked his 24 hour shifts, Melannie knew who was caring for S.C. and where he was because she called and spoke with him on the phone. Yet in all those months, even though she testified that she knew she could come see or even come get S.C. any time she wanted, she only asked the sitter about picking him up one time. During the entire separation period, the evidence shows that she only saw her child 24.2% of the time despite the fact that she could see him any time she wanted to. Exhibit 6 at p. 36; R.E. 120; T. 12-15, 27, 31, 79; R.E. 30-33, 37, 38, 62

In addition to failing to voluntarily support S.C. during the separation period, Melannie admitted in the January 2007 hearing that even after the court ordered her to pay half of S.C.'s expenses, she had not contributed her half of those costs. She testified that even after the court ordered her to contribute to S.C.'s support, she put paying off her credit cards and maintaining her lifestyle ahead of paying her share of S.C.'s support. T 70-72; R.E. 58-60

-

ĺ

ŧ

E

(

l

ł

In regard to Melannie and Steve's jobs, the evidence showed that they both worked 24 hour shifts in their primary full time jobs. Steve's job as a fireman and paramedic for the fire

department is close to home with a very predictable and is set at least a year ahead of time. He works cycles of 24 hours on, 24 off, 24 on, 24 off, 24 on, 24 off, 24 on, and 96 hours (4 days) off on the C shift. This cycle averages ten 24 hour shifts a month. As long as he stays on that shift, his schedule will be predictable for years into the foreseeable future. In many respects, there is flexibility in his work that allows him to spend a great deal of time with S.C. even when he is working, as long as S.C. is in Hernando. For example, when S.C. has ball practice or a game during Steve's shift, Steve is allowed to go to the game in the ambulance and remain there on call while S.C. plays. T. 249; R.E. 94; Exhibit 6 at 29, 34; R.E. 117, 118

At the time of the August hearing, Steve also had a part time job from 8-5 two days a week. When Steve is working a day time part time job, S.C. goes to day care for a couple of hours after school and Steve picks him up when he gets off between 4 and 5 p.m. In the summer of 2006 when his part time employer wanted him to work hours when S.C. was out of school and needed care, Steve put S.C.'s needs ahead of the part time job and quit it to spend more time with S.C.. Exhibit 6 at 15, 19, 29, 34, 36; R.E. 108, 112, 117, 118, 120; T 88; R.E. 69. Although he testified that he plans to find another part time job, he testified that it will have to be limited to day shifts while S.C. is in school, because S.C.'s needs come first. T. 143; R.E. 71.

When Steve is working a 24 hour shift, S.C. spends his out of school hours with either his baseball coach's wife and family or with his paternal grandmother who comes up from Grenada to Hernando to stay with S.C.. The baseball coach's wife is now a homemaker with five children of her own, but she has a master's degree in education and helps S.C. with his homework on the nights he stays with them. S.C.'s paternal grandmother is very active in S.C.'s extracurricular activities. The evidence showed that she was present at many more games and practices than S.C.'s mother Melannie was. Exhibit 6 at 15, 18; R.E. 108, 111; T. 10-12, 15, 21,

£

Ę

(

Į,

l

150, 155-162; R.E. 28-30, 33, 35, 72, 75-82

Melannie's job is much further from where she lives and her work schedule is far less predictable. Although there were references in the testimony to her job requiring only eight 24 hour shifts a month, her more detailed testimony about her work schedule shows that her full time job demands at least as much, if not more, hours than Steve's full time job and lacks the opportunity for spending time with S.C. which can be available in Steve's job if S.C. is in Hernando. She is a flight nurse. Once she gets to work after her long commute, she spends much of her time in the air. She testified her regular schedule is set about a month to six weeks ahead of time. Although the schedule is not set more than a month to six weeks ahead, she has to ask for her vacation days at the beginning of each year. As to which shifts she gets, she testified that there is "no rime [sic] or reason." She might work three 24 hour shifts in one week and then have ten days off. Because there are only 15 flight nurses in the unit, she can be called on at any time to cover for another one of the nurses. This results in a total schedule that she described as "usually the most we get is five days, five shifts in a two week period" - Exhibit 6 at p. 41, 48;

R.E. 122, 126; T. 248-249; R.E. 93-94

At one point during the testimony, the Chancellor questioned Melannie about how her hours compared to Steve's asking:

Y'all both work about the same amount of time, right? One, eight, some ten. It can work more than that?

Melannie responded that her schedule could involve more hours, saying:

I can. I'm not allowed to work back to back ... But I can work more shifts, for instance, because there's only 15 of us. ... So if there's a sickness, yes, one of us has to cover, that was one of the stipulations of going there to work.

T 250; R.E. 95

Prior to the August hearing, none of Melannie's relatives had much involvement in S.C.'s life. They rarely visited the family in Hernando. None of Melannie's relatives offered to help care for S.C. during the separation even on days when both Melannie and Steve were working 24 hour shifts. T. 151, 152; R.E. 73-74

Although Melannie has close family in Pope, she does not rely upon them to care for her children while she is working during the week. Like Steve, she employs a friend to care for her daughter during her weekday 24 hour shifts and intends to use the same arrangements for S.C.. Exhibit 6 at p. 61-62; R.E. 132-133; T 151; R.E. 73

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