IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CHANCERY COURT NO. 05-03-0436-ML

STEVEN W. COLLINS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-CA-00717

MELANNIE (BLAYLOCK) COLLINS

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF DESOTO COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 05-03-0436-ML

BRIEF FOR APPELEE (ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED)

JAMES P. VANCE ATTORNEY AT LAW 123 SECOND STREET P.O. BOX 159 GRENADA, MS 38902-0159 (662)226-9111

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STEVEN W. COLLINS

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2007-CA-00717

MELANNIE (BLAYLOCK) COLLINS

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court correctly considered and applied the Albright Factors. The decision of the Chancellor should not be disturbed unless the factual findings are manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. This Court does not reevaluate the evidence, retest the credibility of witnesses, nor otherwise act as a second fact-finder. If there is substantial evidence in the record to support the Chancellor's findings of fact, no matter what contrary evidence there may also be, this Court has upheld the Chancellor, Wright v. Stanley, 700 So. 2d 274, 280 (Miss. 1997).

Appellate Court needs only to determine if the Chancellor's decision was supported by credible evidence, <u>Lee v. Lee</u>, 798 So. 2d 1284(Miss. 2001). The Chancellor is in a better position to ascertain the truth and veracity of the witnesses.

The paramount consideration in any child custody case is the best interest of the child, <u>Albright v. Albright</u>, 437 So. 2d 1003, 1005 (Miss. 1983). After applying the Albright Factors to the facts of this case, the Court concluded that the best interest of S.C. would be served by awarding joint physical and legal custody to both parents with S. C. residing with Melannie during the school year and the child residing with Steve the entire summer, with each party having visitation every other weekend when the other parent has physical custody. The Chancellor gave Steve most of the holidays such as Spring Break. Each was ordered to pay child support to the other, (R. 77-84; R.E. 16-23). The Court's decision should not be disturbed. The Court's award of joint custody was appropriate.

A Guardian ad litem was appointed at the request of Steve because Melannie

had expressed concern over the severity of Steve's spanking of S.C., (R. 36-37; R.E. 24-25). The *Guardian ad litem* was to investigate abuse, not take over the function of the Chancellor. The *Guardian ad litem* found no abuse, (T. 281; R.E. 46). Melannie testified that she did not think that S.C. was abused by Steve, (T. 261; R.E. 70). The Chancellor took offense at the suggestion by the *Guardian ad litem* that a burden would be put on S.C. if the children were kept together, (Supp. T. 9; R.E. 9).

The Chancellor appropriately took into account the *Guardian ad litem's* testimony and found that joint custody was appropriate.

ARGUMENT

I.

Standard of Review

An Appellate Court will not disturb the factual finding of the Chancellor unless these factual findings are manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous.

The standard of review applied by this Court is well settled. Chancellor's are vested with broad discretion, and this Court will not disturb the Chancellor's findings unless the Court was manifestly wrong, the Court abused its discretion, or the Court applied an erroneous legal standard, <u>Sandlin v. Sandlin</u>, 699 So, 2d 1198, 1204 (Miss. 1997). This Court correctly considered and applied the Albright Factors. The decision of the Chancellor should not be disturbed unless the factual findings are manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. This Court does not reevaluate the evidence, retest the credibility of witnesses, nor otherwise act as a second fact-finder. If there is substantial evidence in the record to support the Chancellor's findings of fact, no matter what contrary evidence there may also be, this Court has upheld the Chancellor, <u>Wright v. Stanley</u>, 700 So. 2d 274, 280 (Miss. 1997).

Appellate Court needs only to determine if the Chancellor's decision was supported by credible evidence, <u>Lee v. Lee</u>, 798 So. 2d 1284 (Miss. 2001). The Chancellor is in a better position to ascertain the truth and veracity of the witnesses.

The Chancellor considered and applied the Albright Factors to this case. His decision should not be disturbed.

The Chancellor was correct in his application of the Albright Factors in placing physical custody with Melannie during the school year.

Steve cites <u>Hollon v. Hollon</u>, 784 So. 2d 943 (Miss. 2001) and <u>Brekeen v. Brekeen</u>, 880 So. 2d 280 (Miss. 2004) as an example, where the Chancellor was reversed. These cases have no application to the facts of this case. <u>Divers v. Divers</u>, 856 So. 2d 370 (Miss. 2003), again, only stands for the proposition that the Chancellor <u>can</u> be reversed if the finding of the Chancellor is contrary to the evidence. Again, that case has no application here. The <u>Watts v. Watts</u>, 854 So. 2d 11 (Miss. App. 2002) case asserted by Steve is not on point with the facts in this case.

The record here reflects that both parties have similar work schedules. Steve puts much emphasis on the fact that he attended more baseball and soccer games than Melannie, although his own mother's testimony tended to show that he exaggerated his attendance. The fact that Steve thought it was so important may be why the Chancellor allowed him to have custody during baseball season.

Further, there is no evidence that Steve was "penalized" for not having a large extended family in the area to draw upon for assistance. It is, however, <u>one</u> of the factors the Chancellor can appropriately consider, <u>Mixon V. Sharpe</u>, 853 So. 2d 834 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003).

The following is an analysis and argument of the Albright Factors as set forth by the Court and analyzed by Melannie.

A. Health and Sex of the Child:

Melannie would assert that this factor favors neither party, although Melannie agrees that S.C. needs a strong Father figure and male role model in his life. The extended amount of custody awarded to the Father in the summer when the child is out of school, allows Steve to fulfill that role. In fact, S.C. would probably be able to spend more time with his Father in the summer than if the Father had his custody during the school year. The Court found that this factor favors the Father and Melannie concedes that the Chancellor's finding should not be disturbed.

B. Continuity of Care:

Prior to the separation, both parties shared in the care of S.C. After separation, up until the temporary hearing, Steve spent more time with the child. After the temporary hearing, until trial, the parties shared joint custody.

Steve attempts to confuse Melannie's inability to live with him and her continuity of care.

Melannie could not stay in the home with Steve and continue to work. Steve would keep her up all night fighting. Melannie had to get out, (T. 40, 280-281; R.E. 43, 45-46).

Melannie explained why she left the children with Steve for approximately two (2) weeks until she got Amy and enrolled her in Pope School. She did not think she could take S.C. out in the middle of the school year. She enrolled the child in Pope Schools at the beginning of August until the temporary hearing when S.C. was allowed to go back to Hernando.

Since the temporary order, the parties have shared joint custody. Steve complains that Melannie did not give him any money, however Melannie was paying off marital debts incurred by Steve and Melannie. Steve did not give Melannie any money for expenses while S.C. was at her house. Melannie bought clothes and had day care expenses for S.C. Steve filed bankruptcy and did not have any marital debt, (T. 118; R.E. 76).

While Steve chose to file bankruptcy to get rid of his obligations, Melannie attempted to work to pay off the marital debts. Melannie disputes that S.C. rarely visited her, although she admits that he stayed over night more with his Father and/or the babysitters than with her until she got a temporary order. She also explained how Steve would manipulate the child to get him to come back to Hernando when S.C. was with her. Steve admitted that Melannie wanted to bring S.C. to Pope with her and his sister, Amy, from the start but did not want to disrupt his school year, (T. 281; R.E. 46).

Melannie did not want to put the child in the middle of a fight with Steve over time with the child. After considering the evidence, the Court found that this factor favored the Father. The Chancellor's decision should not be disturbed.

C. Best Parenting Skills:

The Chancellor correctly concluded that Melannie had the better parenting skills. Melannie described to the Court how inconsistent Steve was with his discipline. Steve would let things go until he would blow up. The Chancellor heard about Steve spanking S.C. Steve admitted to spanking the child, although denying that he put the

bruises on him. Steve argues that S.C. bruises easily, (T.H. 24; R.E. 71). The Court also heard testimony concerning Steve's anger. Stephanie Thompson heard Steve screaming and banging on the bathroom door while Melannie was locked inside, (T. 211; R.E. 66). Steve's own witness, who had known him since the second (2nd) grade, admitted that Steve has a temper when he gets wound up. Steve acknowledged that Melannie was a good mother, (T. 119; R.E. 80).

The Court, after hearing all of the witnesses and observing their demeanor, found that this factor favors the Mother, Melannie, especially with relationship, instruction, education and discipline, (Supp. T. 9; R.E. 9).

The Chancellor heard all of the witnesses and determined that the Mother had better parenting skills. The Court's decision should not be disturbed.

D. <u>Willingness and Capacity to Provide Primary Child Care:</u>

The Court was correct in finding this factor favored the Mother. The testimony revealed that Melannie worked eight (8) twenty-four (24) hour shifts a month. Steve worked ten (10) twenty-four (24) hour shifts a month, (T. 249-250; R.E. 81-82).

Melannie's schedule was more flexible than Steve's schedule, however both parties have flexibility to spend time with the child because of their shift work.

Steve had to rely on his eighty-one (81) year old mother to drive from Grenada to Hernando three (3) or four (4) times a month to care for S.C., or he had to take the child to a friend's house to stay.

When S.C. was at his Mother's home, he stayed in his house on the school campus with his sister. Further, that the Mother has extended family in Pope, a

brother and sister-in-law, to assist her in providing child care.

The Chancellor did not penalize Steve because he had no extended family support in Hernando as asserted by Steve. In <u>Neville v. Neville</u>, 752 So, 2d 352 355 (Miss. App. 1999), the Court held that extended family structure contributes to the child's stability and is a legitimate factor to be considered in custody decisions. This was affirmed in <u>Messer v. Messer</u>, 850 So. 2d 161.

The Chancellor was correct in finding this factor favored the Mother.

E. <u>Employment of the Parents and Responsibilities of that</u> <u>Employment:</u>

The Court found that the employment and employment responsibilities of Steve and Melannie were equal.

Melannie would assert that this factor should favor the Mother. While both parties work shift work, the Court found that Steve worked more days than Melannie. In addition to his regular job, Steve was working part time as an ambulance EMT. Melannie asserts if any error was made, this factor should have favored the Mother, however this Court should not substitute its judgment for the Chancellor, Wright v. Stanley, 700 So, 2d 274 (280) (Miss. 1997).

F. <u>Physical and Mental Health and Age of the Parties:</u>

Melannie concedes that this factor favors neither party.

G. Emotional Ties of the Parent and the Child:

The Court correctly found that the emotional ties of the parent and the child were equal. Steve argues that the he spent more time with the child after separation. This was true until the temporary order was entered. The child was in school in Hernando.

Melannie spent time with the child on a daily basis by phone or in person. After the temporary order was entered, both parents spent equal amounts of time with S.C.

Steve tried to make an issue of how many nights S.C. stayed in Hernando a month versus the nights the child stayed in Pope, however, prior to the temporary hearing, approximately seventy percent (70%) of the nights the child was in Hernando, he was not with the Father, but with the elderly grandmother or a neighbor, (T.H. 19; R.E. 62).

Steve argues that the child wanted to spend time with him when Melannie had him, and Melannie would allow the S.C. to go back to see Steve. Steve asserts that this is evidence of a stronger emotional attachment. I would submit that this is strong evidence of manipulation and emotional abuse by the Father. It reminds me of the Old Testament story about wise King Solomon who acted as if he were going to cut a child in half and give one half each to two (2) women that were fighting over the child. The mother, who would rather give the child up than see the child harmed, received custody.

Melannie would sacrifice her own desire to be with S.C. and allow the child to see Steve instead of upsetting the child after his Father's emotional manipulation.

There is no question that <u>both</u> parents have strong emotional ties to the child and the child to the parents.

H. Moral Fitness of the Parents:

The Chancellor found that this factor favored Steve because of two (2) affairs that Melannie admitted during the marriage. One (1) was a brief, two (2) month affair prior to the separation, and one (1) was during the year and a half the parties were separated. Melannie acknowledged her conduct.

To the contrary, Steve asserted, under oath, that he had not engaged in an illicit relationship. The evidence adduced proved that he had dated a woman and was seen at a rodeo, holding hands with another woman. Melannie does not really make an issue of this factor other than to point out that she acknowledged her failings, while Steve was not candid with the Court about his moral failings. He was forced to admit that he had put a personal ad on Yahoo personals looking for a woman, but again tried to make it someone else's fault, (T. 95; R.E. 83). He also acknowledged that he had gone with Roberta, a woman who lived in his complex, to the Mid-South Fair, (T. 127; R.E. 84).

Melannie and the children regularly attend church. Steve does not, or has only recently started going to church. Steve put that he rarely attended church on his Yahoo ad, (T. 141; R.E. 40). In spite of both parties' failings, the Court found that this factor favored Steve. The Chancellor's findings should not be disturbed.

I. Home, School, and Community Record of the Child:

At separation, Melannie moved to the small community of Pope, Mississippi some thirty (30) miles from Hernando. Melannie's home is on the Pope school grounds. Her mother is the principal of the Pope School. Melannie allowed the child to finish

the school year in Hernando with the belief that Court would resolve the custody issue.

The Court found that this factor favored Steve because the child had attended Hernando Schools and participated in baseball and soccer. The Chancellor's findings should not be disturbed.

J. The Preference of the Child at an Age Sufficient to Express a Preference by Law:

The Chancellor correctly determined that this factor was not applicable.

K. Stability of Home Environment and Employment of Each Parent:

The Chancellor correctly determined that this factor favored Melannie.

Steve argues that he was penalized for not having more family in Hernando, contrary to Watts v. Watts, 854 So. 2d 11 (Miss. App. 2002).

There were certainly other factors that played a large part in the reversal of the Special Judge in <u>Watts v. Watts</u>, 854 So. 2d 11 (Miss. App. 2002). These facts are not applicable here. This Court has recognized that the fact that one parent's home is near friends and extended family may be considered under this factor, as well as, under the "home, school, and community record of the child" factor. <u>Bell on Mississippi Family Law, page 110; Mixon v. Sharp</u>, 853 So. 2d 834 (Miss. App. 2003).

Melannie's home was a single family home located on Pope School grounds, whereas Steve lived in an apartment complex in Hernando. S.C. was residing in the home in Pope when Melannie had custody, whereas S.C. stayed with a family friend at his home in Hernando on the ten (10) to twelve (12) days a month while Steve worked. In addition, Steve's eighty-one (81) year old mother dept S.C. two (2) to three (3) days a

week.

The evidence was undisputed that Pope School system is excellent, and S.C.'s grandmother, the school principal, and aunt and uncle were available during the week to assist Melannie with her son.

Melannie and the children regularly attended church. Steve did not according to the information submitted to the Yahoo personal ad, (T. 141; R.E. 40).

The Chancellor correctly determined that the stability of the home environment favored the Mother. This finding should not be disturbed.

L. Other Factors:

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